AN ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS OF

<u>Justin S. Mills</u> for the degree of <u>Master of Science</u> in <u>Fisheries Science</u> presented on <u>December 19, 2008</u>. Title: <u>Description and Prediction of Broad-scale Spatial Variability in Expression of</u> <u>Anadromy in Female *Oncorhynchus mykiss* in the John Day River, Oregon, USA</u>

Abstract approved:

Jason B. Dunham

Partial migration is a common migratory behavior where some individuals in a population migrate and others do not. Patterns of partial migration can vary dramatically, especially for species that inhabit a wide range of environments. I described and predicted spatial variation in marine migration (anadromy) of female *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (steelhead and rainbow trout) in the John Day River catchment basin, Oregon. This large catchment (20,500 km²), where *O. mykiss* is known to exhibit partial migration, encompasses a broad range of environmental conditions. I collected 149 juvenile *O. mykiss* across 72 sites and identified locations used by anadromous females by assigning maternal origin (anadromous versus non-anadromous) to each juvenile. These assignments used comparisons of strontium to calcium ratios in otolith primordia and freshwater growth regions to indicate maternal origin. Individuals within sites were more likely to have the same maternal origin than expected at random (χ^2 test, *P* < 0.001). I used logistic regression to predict probability of anadromy among sites in relation to stream size (as indicated by mean annual runoff). Stream size and maternal origin for

single fish collected from 69 sites were used to construct a predictive model. I examined the ability of this model to predict new individuals at 47 of these sites (where a second fish was collected) using a variety of diagnostics, including kappa statistics and receiver operating characteristic curves. The model predicted anadromy in this second set of individuals with a moderate level of accuracy (e.g. 68% correctly predicted with a 0.5 classification threshold). Residuals from the models were not spatially autocorrelated, as indicated by Mantel tests. This result also suggested that remaining variability in the expression of anadromy was due to localized influences, as opposed to broad-scale gradients unrelated to stream size. The importance of stream size implies that occurrence of migratory females was related to environmental variability, but stream size is an indicator of many potential processes, and I was unable to identify a specific likely mechanism. However, I was able to demonstrate 1) that it is possible to predict the probability of anadromy across broad environmental gradients, and 2) the validity of a sampling approach that minimizes the need for sacrificial sampling of individuals. These results are important for the management of *O. mykiss* because anadromous individuals (steelhead) within the John Day River watershed are listed as a threatened species, and it is difficult to discern steelhead from non-anadromous individuals (rainbow trout). My results provide managers with the first broad-scale description and prediction of locations supporting anadromy, and provide a broad template that can guide future habitat restoration, monitoring, and research to better manage and understand the expression of anadromy in O. mykiss.

©Copyright by Justin S. Mills December 19, 2008 All Rights Reserved Description and Prediction of Broad-scale Spatial Variability in Expression of Anadromy in Female *Oncorhynchus mykiss* in the John Day River, Oregon, USA

by

Justin S. Mills

A THESIS

submitted to

Oregon State University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Presented December 19, 2008 Commencement June 2009 Master of Science thesis of Justin S. Mills presented on December 19, 2008.

APPROVED:

Major Professor, representing Fisheries Science

Head of the Department of Fisheries and Wildlife

Dean of the Graduate School

I understand that my thesis will become part of the permanent collection of Oregon State University libraries. My signature below authorizes release of my thesis to any reader upon request.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank Jason Dunham for his invaluable guidance, trust, and unwavering support. My other committee members, Gordie Reeves and Chris Zimmerman, have provided critical insights and assistance along the way and helped me avoid many pitfalls. Chris Jordan provided many essential ideas and insight..

Tim Unterwegner, Jim Ruzycki, Jeff Neal, Chris James, and ODFW's EMAP crew assisted with data, ideas, field sampling, and generally kept me out of trouble. I am indebted to Peter Stratis, Nick Smith, and Brett Blundon for their patience, enthusiasm, and excellent assistance in the field (and the lab). Without them this project would not have worked. Bob Hoffman, Cam Jones, and Kathy Motter made the water analysis possible. I am grateful to Frank Tepley for turning me loose with a \$1,000,000 microprobe, but with excellent training.

Support and funding for this project was primarily provided by NOAA Fisheries, USDA Forest Service PNW Research Station, and USGS FRESC, with additional assistance from OSU. The Washington County Fly Fishers, McLoughlin Chapter of Oregon Steelheaders, and Sunriver Anglers also provided financial support. Shane Siers and the USGS brown tree snake project on Guam took me in while I wrote this thesis.

All the members of the Dunham Lab contributed substantially to this project with guidance, insight, and shared misery. John McMillan taught me much of what I know about steelhead and was kind to share his unique understanding of the species. My family and friends had been very supportive and patient, Jessica most of all.

CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORS

Jason B. Dunham was involved in the study design, data analysis, and editing of all sections of this manuscript. Gordie Reeves and Chris Jordan were involved in the study design and planning.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 1 – General introduction
Chapter 2 – Description and prediction of broad-scale spatial variability in expression of anadromy in female <i>Oncorhynchus mykiss</i> in the John Day River, Oregon, USA4
Introduction5
Methods7
Results16
Discussion18
Chapter 3 – General conclusions
Tables
igures
3ibliography45
Appendices
Appendix A – Water chemistry analysis
Appendix B – Fish and site data
Appendix C – Other variables considered

Page

LIST OF FIGURES

<u>Figure</u>

1
36
er in 37
38
than 39
off ed in 40
ual ay 41
odel 42
nic n 43
s (b) or n 44

Page

LIST OF TABLES

Table
Table 2-1 Calculations used to conduct χ^2 test for clustering of juvenile <i>O. mykiss</i> maternal life histories within sites in the John Day River in 2007
Table 2-2 Count, mean lengths (mm; with 95% confidence intervals), and proportion of steelhead progeny (P_a) among all juveniles analyzed ($n = 149$) from the John Day River in 2007
Table 2-3 Count (proportions) of combinations of juvenile <i>O. mykiss</i> maternal life histories at sites ($n = 47$ sites) in the John Day River with two juveniles < 2 years old collected in 2007
Table 2-4 Results from logistic regression analysis of the effects of mean annual runoff on the probability of maternal anadromy for fish in the fitting data set
Table 2-5 Results from logistic regression analysis of the effects of mean annual runoff on the probability of maternal anadromy for juvenile O. mykiss in the validation data set 33
Table 2-7 Mantel test matrix correlations of model residuals in relation to two measures of intersite distance 34

Page

LIST OF APPENDIX FIGURES

	•				
ы	1	n	11	r	$\boldsymbol{\Delta}$
1.	н	ะ	u	л.	c
_	_			_	-
		_			

Figure A-1 Water total alkalinity (ppm) and conductivity (µS/cm), with linear regressio	n,
as tested at otolith sampling sites in the John Day River in 2007	57
Figure B-1 Histograms of mean annual runoff for the John Day River sample sites, (a)	
untransformed and (b) log _e -transformed6	54
Figure B-2 Sites where juvenile O. mykiss were collected during summer 2007 in the	
John Day River basin, with site numbers as in Tables B-1 and B-2	55

LIST OF APPENDIX TABLES

<u>Figure</u>

Table A-1 Mean freshwater microchemistry for otolith sampling sites in the John Day	
River in 2007	55
Table B-1 Data from juvenile fish collected in the John Day River basin in 2007 and	
used for logistic regression modeling on expression of anadromy	58
Table B-2 Location and estimated mean annual runoff (MAR), both untransformed	
(m^3/s) and log _e -transformed, for our 2007 John Day River juvenile O. mykiss	
sampling sites	
Table C-1 We considered these other variables during our model design process:	
elevation (m); slope (m/m); conductivity (µS/cm); downstream distance from si	te
to the Pacific Ocean (km); and area-weighted mean winter (December, January,	,
and February) air temperature	66
Table C-2 Spearman's p correlation matrix for environmental variables for sample site	S
in the John Day River catchment basin possibly implicated in anadromy	68

CHAPTER 1 – GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Migration is common among animals, often encompassing diverse migratory behaviors among and within species (Dingle 1996; Dingle and Drake 2007). Within migratory species, some individuals may migrate while others remain to complete their life cycle in their respective natal habitats; a condition often termed "partial migration." Partial migration has been described in diverse animal taxa including insects, birds, mammals, and fish, and encompasses a range of variable individual- and population-level behaviors (reviewed in Swingland 1983; Kaitala et al. 1993). Factors influencing partial migration vary widely and derive from the costs and benefits of migration versus residency. Among individuals, alternative migratory behaviors affect survival and reproduction, and ultimately individual fitness (Cox 1968; Lundberg 1988; Kaitala et al. 1993). Environments providing a wide range of conditions can favor alternative migratory behaviors through time or among localities (Kaitala et al. 1993; Hendry et al. 2003). Accordingly, broad-scale spatial variability in these factors can manifest as spatial patterns of differential migratory tendencies (Olsson and Greenberg 2004). Furthermore, the fitness consequences of migratory behaviors can differ dramatically between the sexes, since males and females often face contrasting selection pressures (Jonsson and Jonsson 1993; Quinn and Kinnison 1999; Hendry et al. 2004; Neville et al. 2006b).

In this study, we examined the expression of marine-migratory or anadromous migrations in *Oncorhynchus mykiss* within the John Day River, Oregon. Individuals of this species exhibiting anadromy are referred to as steelhead trout whereas those residing within freshwaters throughout their life cycle are considered rainbow trout. The former is

listed as a threatened species (Busby et al. 1996; Cooney 2005) and is the focus of this study.

CHAPTER 2 – DESCRIPTION AND PREDICTION OF BROAD-SCALE SPATIAL VARIABILITY IN EXPRESSION OF ANADROMY IN FEMALE ONCORHYNCHUS MYKISS IN THE JOHN DAY RIVER, OREGON, USA

INTRODUCTION

Partial migration is common in salmonid fishes (Hendry et al. 2003), and includes relatively short migrations between freshwater habitats and long-distance migrations to the ocean. Spatial variability in migratory behavior of individuals occurs in many salmonids. For example, brown trout (*Salmo trutta*) (Olsson and Greenberg 2004), Dolly Varden char (*Salvelinus malma*) (Koizumi et al. 2006), and rainbow trout/steelhead (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) (McMillan et al. 2007; Narum et al. 2008a) exhibit a basic pattern of increasing tendency for residency with increasing upstream distance. Migratory behavior is variably heritable (e.g., brook trout, *S. fontinalis*) (Thériault et al. 2007), but in all species it appears to be a flexible response to variability in environmental conditions (Jonsson and Jonsson 1993; Aubin-Horth et al. 2006). The implication is that environmental variability could provide a useful means for predicting the distribution of migratory behaviors across a landscape.

The tendency for migration in salmonids is sex-dependent, as males and females have substantially different costs and benefits of anadromy (Jonsson and Jonsson 1993; Northcote 1997; Hendry et al. 2004). Males benefit less from greater size resulting from anadromy than females (Northcote 1997), and male *O. mykiss* and other salmonids commonly adopt non-migratory tactics such as early maturation and sneaking (Fleming and Reynolds 2003; Esteve 2005; McMillan et al. 2007). Among partially migratory salmonids, females tend to predominate among migrants (Jonsson and Jonsson 1993; Thériault and Dodson 2003; Koizumi et al. 2006). On their return from the ocean, females may home to specific spawning habitats, whereas males may exhibit little spatial patterning (Neville et al. 2006a). Given these differences between sexes, it seems appropriate to consider expression of migratory behavior in salmonids separately for males and females, at least when considering specific populations or localities.

Current analytical techniques favor examination of female anadromy. Otolith microchemistry provides a means for determining the maternal origin of individuals through comparing the ratio of strontium (Sr) to calcium (Ca) within different regions of their otoliths (Kalish 1990; Volk 1999). Otoliths are primarily composed of calcium carbonate (CaCO₃), and Sr is substituted for Ca relative to the concentration in the environment (Kalish 1990). Freshwater Sr concentration tends to be much lower than seawater. By comparing Sr to Ca ratios in otolith primordia and subsequent freshwater growth regions it is possible to assign individuals to mothers that resided in marine or freshwater environments. This is because otolith primordia begin forming during the egg stage and strongly reflect the Sr:Ca ratio of the maternal environment during formation of yolk precursors (Kalish 1990). Zimmerman and Reeves (2002) successfully used this method to determine maternal life-history of juvenile *O. mykiss* progeny of both anadromous and non-anadromous females in the Deschutes River, Oregon.

Here, we examine whether there is predictable broad-scale variation in female anadromy of *O. mykiss* within the John Day River, a large river basin located in northeast Oregon. We sampled juvenile *O. mykiss* from streams throughout the John Day basin and used otolith microchemical analysis to determine the migratory life histories of their mothers. By assuming juveniles were captured close to their natal site and that their mothers spawned near their respective natal sites, we were able to use otolith analysis to test whether female anadromy varied across the landscape and if it could be predicted from patterns of environmental variability. Specific objectives of this study were to: 1) establish accurate measures of female anadromy across a broad spatial area with a protocol that minimized sacrificial sampling; 2) predict patterns of female anadromy in relation to broad-scale environmental gradients; and 3) assess the potential importance of local variability in determining the expression of anadromy.

METHODS

Study area

The John Day River (45°44'N, 120°39'W) is a free-flowing tributary to the Columbia River draining about 20,500 km² of north-central Oregon (Figure 2-1). Elevation in the catchment basin ranges from 80 m near the mouth to 2,700 m in the headwaters, and annual precipitation varies from about 25 cm to 145 cm (Anonymous 2006a). Most precipitation occurs during the winter and spring. Peak stream flows tend to be in the spring, linked to high rainfall and snowmelt. Climate, vegetation, geology, and hydrology vary widely across the basin, including heavily wooded ponderosa pine (*Pinus ponderosa*) forests in the uplands of the northeastern part of the basin, high desert in the central basin, and the Ochoco and Strawberry Mountain ranges along the southern edge of the basin.

Both anadromous and non-anadromous *O. mykiss* occur throughout the basin, though spawning and rearing of both is generally restricted to areas with relatively cool water, away from the lower river mainstem. Other salmonine species in the basin include Chinook salmon (*O. tshawytscha*), westslope cutthroat trout (*O. clarkii lewisi*), bull trout (*Salvelinus confluentus*), and introduced brook trout (*S. fontinalis*). To reduce confusion, hereafter "*O. mykiss*" is used to refer to the species as a whole and the common names are used for the migratory life histories: steelhead for anadromous individuals and rainbow trout for non-anadromous individuals (Nelson et al. 2004).

Study design and data collection

In this study, we characterized occurrence of anadromy by determining the maternal origins of juvenile *O. mykiss* as an indicator of the presence of spawning steelhead (i.e., identifying individuals with anadromous mothers). We focused our sampling at sites throughout the study area used for monitoring of steelhead by the State of Oregon (J. Ruzycki, Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife, personal communication). These sites (Figure 2-1) were selected using generalized random tessellation stratified sampling (Stevens and Olsen 2004). This sampling process uses hierarchical randomization to produce a spatially balanced equal probability sample, optimized for efficient environmental sampling. Our sampling frame included only streams appearing on a 1:100,000-scale digital streams layer that were accessible to anadromous fish and presumed to be suitable for use by *O. mykiss* by local fisheries biologists (Lloyd and Bowers 2002, 2004). We did not sample stream reaches known to have populations of cutthroat trout due to the difficulty of differentiating their juveniles from *O. mykiss* juveniles (Pollard et al. 1997).

Whenever possible we collected two fish by electrofishing at each site between June–September 2007, one between 50 and 75 mm fork length (FL) and the other between 75 and 100 mm FL. The separate size ranges were collected to reduce the

chance of sampling siblings and to avoid bias due to variable spawn timing (Zimmerman and Reeves 2000) or growth rate (Chernoff and Curry 2007) related to maternal origin (anadromous vs. non-anadromous mothers). If either size was unavailable after 30-45 minutes of sampling, we substituted one from the other size range, or a fish over 100 mm FL if no others were captured. We killed each fish with an overdose of tricaine methanesulfonate (MS-222) and removed both sagittal otoliths, storing them dry in polyethylene vials until returning to the lab, where the vials were filled with ethanol (95% EtOH, ACS).

We prepared otoliths following methods in Zimmerman and Reeves (2000) and Donahoe et al. (2008). We cleaned and mounted at least one otolith from each fish sulcus side up on glass microscope slides, or a cover slip attached to a slide, with Crystal Bond 509 thermoplastic resin (Structure Probe, Inc, West Chester, Pennsylvania¹). We ground them on 1200 and 2000 grit aluminum-oxide sandpaper to the level of the primordia, and then polished them with a slurry of 0.05 µm alumina paste in deionized water. After polishing, we aged each fish by examination of otolith banding. We mounted groups of polished otoliths on petrographic slides for microprobe analysis and washed each slide with deionized water and mild detergent before air drying and coating them with a 40 nm carbon layer.

Elemental analysis was conducted with a Cameca SX-100 wavelength dispersive electron microprobe (Cameca SAS, Gennevilliers, France). For all analyses, the incident

¹ Use of trade or firm names is for reader information only and does not constitute endorsement of any product or service by the U.S. Government

electron beam had an accelerating voltage of 15 kV, a 50 nA current, and a 10 μ m beam diameter. We measured Sr and Ca simultaneously for all otoliths, using strontianite (SrCO₃ – USNM R10065) and calcite (CaCO₃ – USNM 136321) as standards, respectively. Sr was measured using a large TAP and regular TAP crystal simultaneously; Ca was measured with a large PET crystal. Counting time for the first 42 otoliths was 60 s on peak, 60 s on background, and 40 s on peak, 40 s on background for the remainder. The average lower detection limit for the 60 s counting time for Sr was 140 ppm, and 171 ppm for 40 s. On these otoliths, we probed three (on the 60 s otoliths) or four points (on the 40 s otoliths) in the maternal growth region near the primordia, and an equal number of points in the freshwater growth region along a roughly proximal transect. We discarded probed points with total weight percent below 90% or above 110%.

Some freshwater areas have high Sr:Ca ratios that may obscure maternal origin (Rieman et al. 1994; Donohoe et al. 2008). To avoid misidentification of maternal origin resulting from unknown freshwater microchemistry, we tested Sr:Ca ratios in water samples from juvenile sampling sites. We collected water samples at all sample sites except those with restricted access and those directly upstream of another site where water was collected, with no major tributaries in between. Similar to the methods of Wells et al. (2003), we collected two water samples and vacuum-filtered them with 0.45µm polyethersulfone membranes pre-washed with deionized water, then stored 125 ml of each sample in acid-rinsed HDPE bottles pre-preserved with 1 ml ultrapure nitric acid. After transporting samples from the field, we stored samples in a 40° cold room until analysis with a Varian AA240FS flame atomic absorption spectroscope (Varian, Inc, Palo Alto, California). We calculated mean ionic concentration and molar ratios of Sr:Ca for each site, and compared the results for each site to an anadromy detection threshold of 4.75 mmol/mol: roughly half the Sr:Ca ratio in the Pacific Ocean (de Villiers 1999; Zimmerman 2005; Donohoe et al. 2008). We did not use fish samples from sites with water Sr:Ca ratios over this threshold.

Determination of maternal origin

We assigned maternal origin to each fish by comparing Sr:Ca ratios in the maternal and freshwater growth regions of each otolith. A fish was determined to be of anadromous maternal origin if the Sr:Ca ratio in the maternal growth region was significantly higher than in the freshwater growth region, based on a one-tailed *t*-test with a = 0.05. We generally included in our analysis only those juveniles in their first or second summer (age 0+ or 1+, respectively) after emergence to avoid potential bias from outmigrating smolts and the effects of within-basin movement of juveniles (Tattam 2006).

Data analysis

We first tested for non-random distribution of individuals with different maternal origins within sites, to evaluate the degree to which juveniles with similar life histories were clustered within samples. Then, we divided our sample data into two sets by randomly drawing individuals from all sites where more than one individual was collected. With these data we developed a predictive model of the relationship between stream size and the probability of anadromy at each site. Finally, we tested for spatial autocorrelation to determine if the variability remaining in the model residuals was related to broad-scale gradients unrelated to stream size or more likely a result of local conditions.

Tests for non-random distribution of life histories

With only two individuals sampled at each site (to minimize the number of sacrificial samples), we could not estimate proportions of juveniles of anadromous versus freshwater maternal origin. Given that the fecundity of an anadromous female exceeds that of a freshwater resident female by an order of magnitude (Jonsson and Jonsson 1993), we assumed that sites where steelhead females had spawned would harbor a relatively large number of their offspring relative to those from rainbow trout females. This also assumes that numbers of steelhead and rainbow trout females are not drastically different (e.g., a large number of rainbow trout females could equal the production of offspring by only a few anadromous females). Under this assumption, we expected that samples of two juveniles would be more likely to contain two steelhead progeny where steelhead females were present. Accordingly, we expected that relatively few sites would harbor a mix of rainbow trout and steelhead offspring (one of each in our sample of two). Alternatively, if rainbow trout and steelhead females were spatially segregated, we expected a similar pattern: clustering of steelhead and rainbow trout offspring sampled at sites. If neither of these processes was important, we expected to find random associations or lack of clustering between juveniles with different maternal origins.

We tested for non-random distribution of juveniles with contrasting maternal origins within sites by using a χ^2 test. This test compared the observed and expected frequencies of sites where juveniles shared maternal origin and those where there was one of each. We estimated expected frequencies based on the null hypothesis of random distribution of juveniles across all sites. Table 2-1 shows the calculations used to derive observed and expected frequencies. We calculated χ^2 as follows:

$$\chi^{2} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{(O_{i} - E_{i})^{2}}{E_{i}}$$

where O represents the observed frequency, E represents the expected frequency, and n represents the number of possible outcomes: two, in this case.

Prediction of anadromy

To relate occurrence of steelhead to broad-scale environmental gradients, we developed a model to predict the probability of individuals with anadromous maternal origin in relation to stream size. We tested model accuracy with several cross-validation techniques. Stream size, indicated for this study by mean annual runoff (m³/s), is an indicator representing a variety of associated environmental gradients, described below. We estimated mean annual stream runoff (m³/s) for the 1:100,000-scale NHDPlus (Anonymous 2005) reach containing each sampling site. Because measured stream runoff information was not available for most sites, we used a regression model for variable flow regime streams developed by Sanborn and Bledsoe (2006). This model estimates runoff based on basin area contributing to the sampling site stream reach (km²) and area-weighted mean annual precipitation (mm) across the basin (Anonymous 2006b).

For the purposes of model development and evaluation we divided the fish data into a fitting data set—containing one fish drawn randomly from each site—and a validation set containing the remaining fish from each site. At sites with only one fish available, that fish was only included in the fitting data set. To predict probability of anadromy among sites in relation to stream size (as indicated by mean annual runoff), we developed a binary logistic regression model and fit it with the fitting data set. Natural log_e transformation of mean annual runoff resulted in the best fitting models (using the score statistic) (Hosmer and Lemeshow 2000). Unless further specified, all further reference to this variable refers to the transformed value. We tested variable significance with Wald's X^2 , and model significance with the likelihood ratio chi-square, using $\alpha =$ 0.05 for both tests.

The models were evaluated for sensitivity and specificity relative to their ability to make predictions about presence or absence of anadromy. It is important at this point to clarify that we could not interpret absence of anadromy as presence of residents, due to asymmetries in probability of sampling residents described above (see <u>Tests for non-random distribution of life histories</u> above). We used with receiver-operating characteristic (ROC) plots and area-under-the-curve (AUC) analysis with a 10,000-iteration bootstrapping algorithm to estimate 95% confidence intervals for the AUC (Gönen 2007). To aid in predicting the occurrence of anadromy, we also determined the classification threshold for each model that maximized kappa (Manel et al. 2001; Freeman and Moisen 2008).

Spatial variability of predictions

Unexplained or residual variability in the distribution of anadromy remained after our model analysis, so we tested for spatial autocorrelation of model residuals as an indicator of spatial dependence remaining after the influence of stream size was accounted for (Legendre 1993). If we omitted influential broad-scale landscape variables that were unrelated to stream size from the model, spatial autocorrelation could result from the effects of gradients of conditions among sites. This result would also indicate non-independence among observations, which would violate a key assumption of logistic regression and result in inflated model degrees of freedom. Lack of spatial autocorrelation would support the assumption of independence and suggest that variability in local conditions is responsible for model residuals.

We conducted Mantel tests to determine if model residuals were spatially autocorrelated. First, we calculated pairwise Euclidean geographic distances between sampling sites using the ArcGIS Spatial Analyst extension, and pairwise stream network distances using the 1:100,000-scale medium-resolution National Hydrography Dataset (NHD). We used the PASSaGE software package (Rosenberg 2005) to generate distance matrices for model residuals and perform Mantel tests. We used both Euclidean distances and pairwise stream network distances because both could indicate underlying gradients that directly or indirectly influence the expression of anadromy. For example, geology, terrestrial vegetation, topography, or climate could be associated more closely with Euclidean than stream network distances. Alternatively, stream network distances should be more strongly associated with connectivity of locations within streams due to transport of materials within streams or fish movement.

Significance for Mantel tests was determined using a permutation test that held one matrix constant while randomly reordering the other, then calculating the correlation coefficient. This was repeated 9,999 times for each model being tested and the correlation coefficient for the measured data was compared to the null distribution to determine significance ($\alpha = 0.05$, one-tailed). A significant result would indicate the model residuals were spatially autocorrelated in relation to Euclidian or stream network distance.

RESULTS

Determination of maternal origin

We determined maternal origin for 149 juveniles at 72 sites (Figure 2-2). The sites we sampled were almost entirely on federal lands, due to limited access to private land. Because of this constraint, we collected few samples from the interior and lower mainstem portions of the river basin near the mouth.

Ninety-one (60.3%) were steelhead progeny and 58 (39.7%) were rainbow trout progeny. Steelhead progeny occurred at 52 of 72 sites. Overall, most juveniles were < 2 years old (Table 2-2), but at three sites we collected only fish > 2 years old, so we excluded those sites from further analysis. There was clear separation in the distribution of fork length between ages (Figure 2-3). The proportion of steelhead progeny was not different between ages (for fish under 3 years old Pearson $\chi^2 = 0.86$, df = 2, P = 0.65). The mean water Sr:Ca ratio across all sampling sites (n = 64) was 2.58 mmol/mol (95% CI 2.36, 2.81; Figure 2-4). Increasing water Sr:Ca ratio was correlated with increasing longitude (Spearman's $\rho = 0.47$, N = 116, P = 0.34) One site (#115, on Hideaway Creek) had a mean Sr:Ca ratio of 5.61, high enough to warrant exclusion of otolith microchemistry results from this site (even though Sr concentration was below reliable detection limits).

Tests for non-random distribution of life histories

When considering only sites with two juveniles < 2 years old (n = 47 sites), the maternal life histories of both juveniles tended to be same more often than expected from the overall proportion of maternal origins (Table 2-3; $\chi^2 = 11.15$, df = 1, P < 0.001,). Both juveniles had the same maternal life histories at 36 of these sites.

Prediction of anadromy

Increasing stream size was associated with increasing probability of anadromy (Figure 2-5). The logistic regression model using stream size correctly classified 78% of the observations of anadromy and non-anadromy in the fitting data set (n = 69; Table 2-4) and 68% of the validation data set observations (n = 47; Table 2-5) with a probability cutoff of 0.50. At this probability threshold, the model correctly classified 32 of 40 observations of anadromy (80%) and 21 of 29 observations of non-anadromy (72%) for the fitting data. The optimal threshold for the fitting data (0.51, K = 0.56) was substantially lower than that of the validation data (0.62, K = 0.32). There was no correlation between absolute value of model residuals and fish length (Spearman's $\rho = 0.09$, N = 116, P = 0.34; Figure 2-6) or fish age (Spearman's $\rho = 0.058$, N = 116, P =

0.54). The ROC area-under-the-curve (AUC) score was high for the fitting data set
(0.82; 95% confidence interval 0.71, 0.91), but moderate for the validation data set (0.69; 95% CI 0.53, 0.84; Figure 2-7).

Spatial variability of predictions

Mantel tests with Euclidian and stream network measures of pairwise geographic distances indicated that model residuals were not spatially autocorrelated among sites (Table 2-6). Plots of pairwise model residual distances in relation to geographic distances showed no obvious spatial patterns (Figure 2-8), nor did Mantel correlograms (Figure 2-9). Thus, the stream size gradient included in the predictive model accounted for the broad-scale variation in the expression of anadromy. However, there was remaining unexplained variability, pointing to the potential importance of local factors influencing expression of anadromy.

DISCUSSION

We found that female anadromy occurred widely across the John Day River basin, and that variation in stream flow predicted much of the spatial pattern of female anadromy. Our analysis of otolith and water microchemistry successfully identified maternal life histories at almost all sites. Within sites, both juveniles had the same maternal origin more frequently than expected, though we were not able to estimate the proportion of steelhead or rainbow trout progeny overall. A logistic regression model predicting probability of anadromy based on stream size showed moderate accuracy as indicated by cross-validation. Lack of spatial autocorrelation among model residuals indicated the simple stream size model explained most variability in anadromy at the broad spatial scale we sampled, implying remaining variation is due to local conditions and associated influences.

Our sampling approach was intended to characterize female anadromy across a broad spatial range while minimizing sacrificial sampling of a threatened species. By foregoing more intensive sampling at each site, we were able use a relatively small total sample size to develop a robust predictive model across a broad spatial extent encompassing large environmental gradients. Our intent was to describe and predict the occurrence of anadromy, rather than to predict the prevalence of steelhead and rainbow trout at each site. Estimated proportions of steelhead offspring are unlikely to correspond to the proportion of steelhead females supported by the site; fecundity of large steelhead may be an order of magnitude greater than small rainbow trout (Jonsson and Jonsson 1993).

Maternal life history

Microchemical analysis of freshwater Sr:Ca ratios supported broad-scale use of otolith Sr:Ca ratios to identify maternal origin in similar landscapes. The strong spatial gradient of increasing Sr:Ca concentration with increasing latitude and longitude likely reflects underlying geologic gradients, a key concern when we began our sampling effort. However, only one site in our study was rejected for having a Sr:Ca ratio likely to mask maternal origin, and we did not have difficulty identifying the offspring of streammaturing fish. Other studies observed similar spatial variability in freshwater Sr:Ca ratios (Rieman et al. 1994; Wells et al. 2003; Donohoe et al. 2008). This variability implies the need for sample validation, but the paucity of sites with unacceptable Sr:Ca ratios suggests that a subsample of sites may be adequate to validate an extensive sampling effort.

Relatively few sites yielded a mix of steelhead and rainbow trout offspring, suggesting steelhead offspring numerically dominated the sites where they were present or that there was spatial separation between steelhead and rainbow trout spawning. It is difficult to identify which scenario is more plausible without further sampling. In either case, our small sample may not have detected anadromy at all sites where steelhead progeny were present. However, we were still able to estimate the relative (not absolute) probability of occurrence of anadromy within our sample (Johnson et al. 2006).

The relationship between maternal origin of juveniles and their subsequent migratory behavior (Tattam 2006) is unclear, but by sampling fish below 100 mm and only using 0+ and 1+ age fish, we minimized the bias associated with potential emigration of 2+ fish as steelhead smolts from our sampled locations. Similarly, we found no bias toward or against anadromous origin associated with fish size, though other work suggests that offspring of anadromous fish would have higher growth rates and therefore greater size-at-age (Chernoff and Curry 2007).

When analyzing the relationship between anadromy and environmental variability, we assumed the juveniles were captured within the stream reach where their mothers spawned. Whereas some *O. mykiss* may migrate long distances in freshwater (Tattam 2006), there is little evidence that the < 2 year old juveniles used in this study would do so (Kahler et al. 2001). Juvenile density is correlated to redd density in both *S*.

salar (Beland 1996) and *S. trutta* (Beard and Carline 1991), indicating limited movement from natal areas is a reasonable assumption. During the summer juvenile trout may move frequently within a stream reach, but they are unlikely to move more than a few hundred meters (Kahler et al. 2001). *O. mykiss* juveniles may move downstream from spawning areas in substantial numbers in the fall or spring after their first summer (Van Dyke et al. 2001), but many juveniles return upstream seasonally (Tattam 2006). Therefore, we conclude that movement of juvenile *O. mykiss* is unlikely to affect our analysis of the distribution of anadromy, and that sampling bias by size or age is probably negligible.

Predicting probability of anadromy

Female anadromy was predictable across the study area, and we found no evidence of serious bias from assignment of maternal origin, juvenile movement, or sampling that could be attributed to our approach. However, it is important to clarify that model predictions should be interpreted as indicating the relative probability of anadromy. Due to the chance that we failed to detect anadromous individuals when indeed they were present at some sites, the absolute probability of anadromy overall is likely underestimated and thus we can only make inferences about relative probabilities (Johnson et al. 2006). For example, at sites where the two sampled juveniles were of different maternal origin, only one data set indicated anadromy at a site, thus the other set is known to under-represent anadromy. Furthermore, we cannot infer anything about the relative or absolute probability of occurrence of freshwater resident individuals. These issues likely contributed to the variable model performance between the fitting and validation data, as these mixed sites were randomly distributed among the data sets. Regardless, the model explained much of the spatial variability in expression of anadromy and provides a useful picture of the occurrence of this life history across a large stream network.

Processes affecting anadromy

Based on work with other salmonines (e.g., Jonsson and Jonsson 1993), it is likely that expression of anadromy in O. mykiss in our system is driven by environmental variation that is manifested across a range of spatial and temporal scales. Our model based on stream size used data from a short temporal scale: sampling within one year and confined largely to two juvenile cohorts. Furthermore, whereas stream size was a useful predictor of anadromy, the exact processes associated with stream size, and ultimately anadromy, remain unclear. Stream size is an indicator of a range of ecological and physical processes (Vannote et al. 1980). It is often associated with gradients of hydrologic and biological organization, but is only loosely linked to the physiological processes governing migration. For example, large fish are less vulnerable to predation in large streams and deep pools (Power 1984; Quinn and Kinnison 1999), so large anadromous fish may avoid spawning in small or shallow streams. Furthermore, stream discharge can be used to directly estimate sediment transport (Barry et al. 2004), which is a key component of stream habitat disturbance regimes and development of in-stream habitat (Reice et al. 1990; Reeves et al. 1995). Patterns of disturbance by sediment transport may govern broad-scale distribution of steelhead spawning (Montgomery et al. 1999), providing a simple process-based explanation to the relative effectiveness of our model. In addition, gradients of stream size may also match gradients in water

temperature regime (Torgersen et al. 1999). This has direct bioenergetic consequences for growth, survival, and smolting (Thorpe and Metcalfe 1998; Tattam 2006; Madrinan 2008), as well as affecting how fish communities respond to local geomorphology (Torgersen et al. 2006).

Broad-scale environmental gradients were predictably associated with the expression of anadromy, but we also found evidence to suggest the importance of local influences. Our analysis of spatial autocorrelation of the residual variability in anadromy after removing the influence of stream size provided no additional evidence of the influence of spatial gradients, leaving the possibility that localized conditions may play an important role. Within localities, it is likely that variability in thermal conditions, food availability, and population density could be important. For example, brown trout given restricted food rations develop migratory morphology more frequently than those on a more liberal diet (Olsson et al. 2006; Wysujack et al. in press). Brown trout in high density stream segments migrated at a much higher rate than those in segments with low population density (Olsson and Greenberg 2004). Ecological processes and organisms' responses to them are scale-dependent (Wiens 2002), and it is impossible to fully understand and describe these relationships without multi-scale sampling and modeling beyond the scope of this study (Wiens 2002; Boyce 2006).

Research implications

Our predictive model performed well with the timeframe of this study, but interannual variability in spawner distribution and reproductive success may have important effects on model predictions and the effectiveness of a simple model. A
limited window of interannual variability was captured in our consideration of 0+ and 1+ age fish at each site, but our study lacked the temporal depth needed to capture multi-year variability. The occurrence of anadromy could vary from year to year with spawner abundance and habitat availability. In years of low abundance, spawning may be restricted to a short time period at high-quality spawning sites, becoming more dispersed in time and space as abundance increases, as is the case with other salmonines (Isaak et al. 2003; Isaak and Thurow 2006). Furthermore, when the steelhead run size is small the reproductive contribution from rainbow trout may increase to keep the overall steelhead effective population size (N_e) stable (Araki et al. 2007). Estimated steelhead spawner abundance in the upper John Day River has fluctuated from almost 10,000 to below 1000 since the mid-1980s (Good et al. 2005). About 8,700 steelhead spawned in the John Day River in 2007, up from about 5,300 in 2006 and about 3,700 in 2005 (James et al. 2007), so our results reflect relatively high spawner abundance. Accordingly, continued sampling at these and other sites, with better understanding of the probability of detection of anadromy under varying conditions, could lead to a more robust model that would transfer well across years and to other river basins.

Our model provides a basic tool for predicting anadromy, but conservation efforts will benefit from a more comprehensive strategy that integrates other lines of evidence into the overall understanding of the occurrence of steelhead (Peterson and Dunham 2003). These could include additional indirect techniques for assessing anadromy, such as microchemical sampling or genetic studies. However, lethal sampling techniques severely restrict the number of individuals on which we can conduct otolith analysis and preclude studying individuals over their entire lifespan. Non-lethal microchemical analysis of scales is useful for assessing lifetime patterns of adult migration (Courtemanche et al. 2005; Courtemanche et al. 2006), but juvenile salmonids do not begin to grow scales until after they emerge from the gravel to begin feeding (Quinn 2005) and any maternal strontium signature is likely to be insubstantial. Genetic techniques may be useful where there is evidence for reproductive isolation (e.g., Narum et al. 2008b) or where entire populations can be sampled (Araki et al. 2007). However, there is little evidence for such isolation or genetic distinctiveness of life histories in similar populations elsewhere (McCusker et al. 2000; Olsen et al. 2006; McPhee et al. 2007). In addition to inferences based on juveniles, direct observations of redds or spawning adults may provide additional opportunities to quantify the occurrence of anadromy (e.g., Zimmerman and Reeves 2000; Gallagher et al. 2005; Crawford et al. 2006).

CHAPTER 3 – GENERAL CONCLUSIONS

Results of this study have important implications for the management and conservation of O. mykiss. Within the John Day River basin, steelhead are federally protected as threatened, but rainbow trout are not (Busby et al. 1996; Cooney 2005). The O. mykiss population of the John Day River basin produces one of the last remaining intact wild populations of steelhead in the Columbia River basin, with little historical hatchery influence (Howell et al. 1985; Busby et al. 1996). Planning for conservation and recovery depends on effectively planning and prioritizing activities and resources (Roni et al. 2002; Beechie et al. 2003). For example, managers could use results of this work to target their activities more effectively in areas supporting anadromy within the John Day basin. Alternatively, if the uncertainty in predictions from the model presented herein is a concern, additional work could focus on refining model predictions (e.g., using Bayesian posterior probabilities to incorporate additional lines of evidence) (Peterson and Dunham 2003) or on understanding processes that directly influence expression of anadromy (Jonsson and Jonsson 1993; Hendry et al. 2004). This uncertainty about patterns and processes also relates to the design of monitoring programs focused on quantifying numbers of juvenile steelhead in freshwater, as well as estimating juvenile to adult survival or rates of return. We were not able to address the absolute proportion or occurrence of freshwater resident O. mykiss in this study, and thus inferences about anadromy based on numbers of O. mykiss alone remain uncertain. Finally, it is worth noting that this study focused on factors influencing anadromy in one

sex: females. We suspect that expression of anadromy in males is driven by a different suite of evolutionary pressures (e.g., Fleming 1998; McMillan et al. 2007; Wysujack et al. in press).

In conclusion, we find that variable expression of anadromy in *O. mykiss* is associated with broad-scale environmental factors. Variability remaining after accounting for these factors that suggests the importance of localized environmental factors, but much remains to be learned. We can look to other salmonines for evidence of general processes likely to influence the expression of anadromy (e.g., Jonsson and Jonsson 1993; Hendry et al. 2003), but the influence of specific environmental factors on the expression of anadromy in *O. mykiss* is likely to be a fruitful area for future investigation. TABLES

Table 2-1 Calculations used to conduct χ^2 test for clustering of juvenile *O. mykiss* maternal life histories within sites in the John Day River in 2007. Only sites with two juveniles > 2 years old were included. The observed number of sites where both individuals were rainbow trout or steelhead progeny is represented by RbtRbt or StSt, respectively, and the number of sites where one individual was each type is represented by RbtSt. The expected proportions of each combination under the null hypothesis of no association were calculated from the observed proportions of rainbow trout and steelhead progeny across these sites (Rbt and St, respectively), where n is the number of sites.

Combination	Observed	Expected
Same maternal type	RbtRbt + StSt	$(\mathrm{Rbt}^2 + \mathrm{St}^2) \times n$
Different maternal type	RbtSt	$2 \times \text{Rbt} \times \text{St} \times n$

			95%	6 CI		95%	6 CI
Age	n	Mean length (mm)	Lower	Upper	P_a	Lower	Upper
0	48	56.1	53.6	58.5	0.69	0.55	0.80
1	74	79.4	76.4	82.3	0.55	0.44	0.66
2	24	94.0	88.6	99.4	0.63	0.43	0.79
3	3	85.7	45.7	125.6	0.67	0.20	0.94

Table 2-2 Count, mean lengths (mm; with 95% confidence intervals), and proportion of steelhead progeny (P_a) among all juveniles analyzed (n = 149) from the John Day River in 2007.

Combination	Observed	Expected
Same maternal type	36 (0.77)	24.6 (0.52)
Both steelhead	23 (0.49)	17.3 (0.37)
Both rainbow trout	13 (0.28)	7.3 (0.15)
Different maternal type	11 (0.23)	22.4 (0.48)

Table 2-3 Count (proportions) of combinations of juvenile *O. mykiss* maternal life histories at sites (n = 47 sites) in the John Day River with two juveniles < 2 years old collected in 2007.

			95% CI	(Wald's)					95% CI	(Wald's)
Predictor	β	SE	Lower	Upper	Wald's χ^2	df	Р	Odds ratio	Lower	Upper
Intercept	2.90	0.79	1.34	4.46	13.34	1	0.0003			
Mean annual runoff	1.24	0.33	0.58	1.90	13.71	1	0.0002	3.45	1.79	6.66

Table 2-4 Results from logistic regression analysis of the effects of mean annual runoff on the probabilityof maternal anadromy for fish in the fitting data set.

			95% CI	(Wald's)					95% CI	(Wald's)
Predictor	β	SE	Lower	Upper	Wald's χ^2	df	Р	Odds ratio	Lower	Upper
Intercept	1.57	0.63	0.33	2.82	6.17	1	0.013			
Mean annual runoff	0.56	0.26	0.04	1.08	4.45	1	0.035	1.75	1.04	2.94

Table 2-5 Results from logistic regression analysis of the effects of mean annual runoff on the probabilityof maternal anadromy for juvenile O. mykiss in the validation data set.

	Stream r dista	network nce	Euclidean	distance
Data set	r	Р	r	Р
Fitting data	0.02	0.31	-0.03	0.71
Validation data	0.01	0.38	-0.01	0.58

Table 2-6 Mantel test matrix correlations of pairwise differences in model residuals in relation to two measures of between-site distance. Probabilities are for a one-tailed test (to test alternative hypothesis that geographically proximate sites are more similar).

FIGURES



Figure 2-1 Map of 2007 juvenile *O. mykiss* sampling sites (\blacktriangle) in relation to the John Day River basin, with selected cities and localities (\bullet).



Figure 2-2 Maternal types identified for juveniles at study sites in the John Day River in 2007. Sites where two or more juveniles were sampled are indicated with circles (\circ/\bullet) ; those where only one juvenile was sampled are indicated with squares (\Box/\blacksquare) . Hollow markers (\circ/\Box) indicate sites where all juveniles were the offspring of rainbow trout, solid markers (\bullet/\blacksquare) indicate those with all steelhead offspring, and mixed markers indicate at least one offspring of each type (\bullet) .



Figure 2-3 Length-frequency histogram for juveniles of each age class of *O. mykiss* juveniles collected from sites in the John Day River (Figure 2-1) in 2007. Our sampling targeted 50-100 mm fish, collecting larger or smaller fish when the target size was unavailable.



Figure 2-4 Histogram of mean freshwater Sr:Ca ratios (mmol/mol) from our 2007 sample sites (n = 64) in the John Day River. We did not include sites greater than 4.75 mmol/mol in our analysis, as we could not discern marine or freshwater maternal origin at sites past that threshold. We removed one site from analysis with Sr:Ca ratio of 5.61 mmol/mol. Two sites had Sr:Ca ratios between 4.5 and 4.75 mmol/mol.



Figure 2-5 Increasing stream size (represented by \log_e -transformed mean annual runoff (m³/s)) was associated with increasing occurrence of anadromy at sites sampled in 2007 in the John Day River basin. Steelhead offspring (•) occurred at sites across the range of stream sizes, but rainbow trout offspring (\circ) occurred only at the smaller streams.



Validation data – anadromous

Figure 2-6 We found no relationship between fish fork length (mm) and model residual for the stream size predictive model of expression of anadromy in the John Day River. Grey markers indicate steelhead progeny, white indicate rainbow trout progeny. Circles (\circ) represent fitting data, squares (\Box) represent validation data.



Figure 2-7 Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves for mean annual runoff model using fitting (circles; AUC = 0.82; 95% CI 0.71, 0.91) and validation data (squares; AUC = 0.69; 95% CI 0.53, 0.84). The optimal threshold (based on maximum kappa) for the fitting data curve is p = 0.51 (k = 0.56). For the validation data curve the optimal threshold is p = 0.62 (k = 0.32).



Figure 2-8 Plots of pairwise model residual distances (absolute values) and geographic distances (km) used in Mantel tests for (a) Euclidean distances and (b) stream network distances between sampling sites.



Figure 2-9 Mantel correlograms for both Euclidean (a) and stream network (b) distances (km; log_{10} scale) showing little or no effect of scale on spatial autocorrelation of model residuals for the fitting data within our broad-scale sampling effort in the John Day River in 2007. These plots present 1-km distance classes for pairwise between-site distances of 100km or smaller.

.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Anonymous (2005). National Hydrography Dataset Plus NHDPlus [computer file]. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency and the U.S. Geological Survey.
- Anonymous (2006a). United States Average Monthly or Annual Precipitation, 1971 -2000 [computer file]. The PRISM Group at Oregon State University, Corvallis, Oregon, USA.
- Anonymous (2006b). United States Average Monthly or Annual Maximum Temperature, 1971-2000 [computer file]. The PRISM Group at Oregon State University, Corvallis, Oregon, USA.
- Araki H, Waples RS, Ardren WR, Cooper B and Blouin MS (2007). Effective population size of steelhead trout: influence of variance in reproductive success, hatchery programs, and genetic compensation between life-history forms. Molecular Ecology 16: 953-966.
- Aubin-Horth N, Bourque J-F, Daigle G, Hedger R and Dodson JJ (2006). Longitudinal gradients in threshold sizes for alternative male life history tactics in a population of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 63: 2067–2075.
- Barry JJ, Buffington JM and King JG (2004). A general power equation for predicting bed load transport rates in gravel bed rivers. Water Resources Research 40: W10401.
- Beard TD and Carline RF (1991). Influence of spawning and other stream habitat features on spatial variability of wild brown trout. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 120: 711–722.
- Beechie TJ, Steel EA, Roni P and Quimby E (2003). Ecosystem recovery planning for listed salmon: an integrated assessment approach for salmon habitat NOAA Tech. Memo. NMFS-NWFSC-58. United States Department of Commerce. p. 201.
- Beland KF (1996). The relation between redd counts and Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) parr populations in the Dennys River, Maine. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 53: 513–519.
- Boyce MS (2006). Scale for resource selection functions. Diversity and Distributions 12: 269–276.
- Busby PJ, Wainwright TC, Bryant GJ, Lierheimer LJ, Waples RS, Waknitz FW and Lagomarsino IV (1996). Status review of West Coast steelhead from Washington,

Idaho, Oregon, and CaliforniaNOAA Tech. Memo. NMFS-NWFSC-27. United States Department of Commerce. p. 275.

- Chernoff E and Curry RA (2007). First summer growth predetermined in anadromous and resident brook charr. Journal of Fish Biology 70: 334–346.
- Cooney T (2005). Middle Columbia River steelhead ESU. *In* Good TP, Waples RS and Adams P (eds.), Updated status of federally listed ESUs of west coast salmon and steelhead. NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-NWFSC-66, pp. 201–214.
- Courtemanche DA, Bujold V, Curry RA and Whoriskey FG (2005). A nonlethal approach using strontium in scales to distinguish periods of marine and freshwater residency of anadromous species. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 62: 2443–2449.
- Courtemanche DA, Whoriskey Jr FG, Bujold V and Curry RA (2006). Assessing anadromy of brook char (*Salvelinus fontinalis*) using scale microchemistry. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 63: 995–1006.
- Cox GW (1968). The role of competition in the evolution of migration. Evolution 22: 180–192.
- Crawford B, Mosey TR and Johnson DH (2006). Carcass counts. Salmonid field protocols handbook: techniques for assessing status and trends in salmon and trout populations, pp. 59-86. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, Maryland.
- de Villiers S (1999). Seawater strontium and Sr/Ca variability in the Atlantic and Pacific oceans. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 171: 623–634.
- Dingle H (1996). Migration: the biology of life on the move. Oxford University Press, Inc., New York, New York.
- Dingle H and Drake VA (2007). What is Migration? BioScience 57: 113–121.
- Donohoe CJ, Adams PB and Royer CF (2008). Influence of water chemistry and migratory distance on ability to distinguish progeny of sympatric resident and anadromous rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 65: 1060–1075.
- Esteve M (2005). Observations of spawning behaviour in Salmoninae: *Salmo*, *Onchrhynchus*, and *Salveninus*. Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries 15: 1–21.
- Fleming IA (1998). Pattern and variability in the breeding system of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) with comparisons to other salmonids. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 55: 59–76.

- Fleming IA and Reynolds JD (2003). Salmonid breeding systems. *In* Hendry AP and Stearns SC (eds.), Evolution illuminated: salmon and their relatives, pp. 264–294. Oxford University Press, Inc., New York.
- Freeman EA and Moisen GG (2008). A comparison of the performance of threshold criteria for binary classification in terms of predicted prevalence and kappa. Ecological Modelling 217: 48–58.
- Gallagher SP, Hahn PK and Johnson DH (2005). Redd counts. Salmonid field protocols handbook: techniques for assessing status and trends in salmon and trout populations, pp. 197–234. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, Maryland.
- Gönen M (2007). Analyzing reciever operating characteristic curves with SAS. SAS Institute Inc., Cary, North Carolina, USA.
- Good TP, Waples RS and Adams PB (2005). Updated status of Federally listed ESUs of West Coast salmon and steelheadNOAA Tech. Memo. NMFS-NWFSC-66. United States Department of Commerce. p. 598.
- Hendry AP, Bohlin T, Jonsson B and Berg OK (2003). To sea or not to sea? Anadromy versus non-anadromy in salmonids. *In* Hendry AP and Stearns SC (eds.), Evolution illuminated: salmon and their relatives, pp. 92–125. Oxford University Press, Inc., New York.
- Hendry AP, Bohlin T, Jonsson B and Berg OK (2004). To sea or not to sea? Anadromy versus non-anadromy in salmonids. *In* Hendry AP and Stearns SC (eds.), Evolution illuminated: salmon and their relatives, pp. 92–125. Oxford University Press, Inc., New York.
- Hosmer DW and Lemeshow S (2000). Applied logistic regression. John Wiley and Sons, New York, New York, USA.
- Howell P, Jones K, Scarnecchia D, LaVoy L, Kendra W and Ortmann D (1985). Stock assessment of Columba River anadromous salmonids. Volume II: steelhead stock summaries, stock transfer guidelines–information needs. Bonneville Power Administration, Final Report 1984, Portland, Oregon.
- Isaak DJ, Thurow RF, Rieman BE and Dunham JB (2003). Temporal variation in synchrony among chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) redd counts from a wilderness area in central Idaho. Canadian Journal of Fisheries & Aquatic Sciences 60: 840–848.
- Isaak DJ and Thurow RF (2006). Network-scale spatial and temporal variation in Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) redd distributions: patterns inferred

from spatially continuous replicate surveys. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 63: 285–296.

- James CA, Garriott ML, Bult AM, Ruzycki JR and Carmichael RW (2007).
 Implementation of the environmental monitoring and assessment program (EMAP) protocol in the John Day subbasin of the Columbia plateau province: annual progress report. Contract period: September 1, 2006 to August 31, 2007.
 Project Number: 1998-016-02. Bonneville Power Administration, Portland, Oregon. 75 p.
- Johnson CJ, Nielsen SE, Merrill EH, McDonald TL and Boyce MS (2006). Resource selection functions based on use-availability data: theoretical motivation and evaluation methods. Journal of Wildlife Management 70: 347–357.
- Jonsson B and Jonsson N (1993). Partial migration: niche shift versus sexual maturation in fishes. Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries 3: 348–365.
- Kahler TH, Roni P and Quinn TP (2001). Summer movement and growth of juvenile anadromous salmonids in small western Washington streams. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 58: 1947–1956.
- Kaitala A, Kaitala V and Lundberg P (1993). A theory of partial migration. The American Naturalist 142: 59–81.
- Kalish JM (1990). Use of otolith microchemistry to distinguish the progeny of sympatric anadromous and non-anadromous salmonids. Fishery Bulletin 88: 657–666.
- Kney AD and Brandes D (2007). A graphical screening method for assessing stream water quality using specific conductivity and alkalinity data. Journal of Environmental Management 82: 519–528.
- Koetsier P, Minshall GW and Robinson CT (1996). Benthos and macroinvertebrate drift in six streams differing in alkalinity. Hydrobiologia 317: 41–49.
- Koizumi I, Yamamoto S and Maekawa K (2006). Female-biased migration of streamdwelling Dolly Varden in the Shiisorapuchi River, Hokkaido, Japan. Journal of Fish Biology 68: 1513–1529.
- Legendre P (1993). Spatial autocorrelation: trouble or new paradigm? Ecology 74: 1659– 1673.
- Lloyd J and Bowers J (2002). Limited Oregon Resident Trout Habitat Distribution (Rainbow, Redband, Brook, and Hybridized Rainbow and Cutthroat Trout) [computer file]. Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife, Portland, Oregon, USA.

- Lloyd J and Bowers J (2004). Oregon Salmon and Steelhead Habitat Distribution (1:100,000) [computer file]. Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife, Portland, Oregon, USA.
- Lundberg P (1988). The evolution of partial migration in birds. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 3: 172–175.
- Madrinan LF (2008). Biophysical factors driving the distribution and abundance of redband/steelhead trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss gairdneri*) in the South Fork John Day River Basin, Oregon, USA, Oregon State University: Corvallis, Oregon. 127 pp.
- Manel S, Williams HC and Ormerod SJ (2001). Evaluating presence-absence models in ecology: the need to account for prevalence. Journal of Applied Ecology 38: 921–931.
- McCusker MR, Parkinson E and Taylor EB (2000). Mitochondrial DNA variation in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) across its native range: testing biogeographical hypotheses and their relevance to conservation. Molecular Ecology 9: 2089–2108.
- McMillan JR, Katz SL and Pess GR (2007). Observational evidence of spatial and temporal structure in a sympatric anadromous (Winter Steelhead) and resident rainbow trout mating system on the Olympic Peninsula, Washington. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 136: 736–748.
- McPhee MV, Utter F, Stanford JA, Kuzishchin KV, Savvaitov KA, Pavlov DS and Allendorf FW (2007). Population structure and partial anadromy in *Oncorhynchus mykiss* from Kamchatka: relevance for conservation strategies around the Pacific Rim. Ecology of Freshwater Fish 16: 539–547.
- Montgomery DR, Beamer EM, Pess GR and Quinn TP (1999). Channel type and salmonid spawning distribution and abundance. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 56: 377–387.
- Narum SR, Hatch D, Talbot AJ, Moran P and Powell MS (2008a). Iteroparity in complex mating systems of steelhead *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Walbaum). Journal of Fish Biology 72: 45–60.
- Narum SR, Zendt JS, Graves D and Sharp WR (2008b). Influence of landscape on resident and anadromous life history types of *Oncorhynchus mykiss*. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 65: 1013–1023.
- Nelson JS, Crossman EJ, Espinosa-Pérez H, Findley LT, Gilbert CR, Lea RN and Williams JD (2004). Common and scientific names of fishes from the United

States, Canada and Mexico. Special Publication 29, American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, Maryland.

- Neville HM, Dunham JB and Peacock MM (2006a). Landscape attributes and life history variability shape genetic structure of trout populations in a stream network. Landscape Ecology 21: 901–916.
- Neville HM, Isaak DJ, Dunham JB, Thurow RF and Rieman BE (2006b). Fine-scale natal homing and localized movement as shaped by sex and spawning habitat in Chinook salmon: insights from spatial autocorrelation analysis of individual genotypes. Molecular Ecology 15: 4589–4602.
- Northcote TG (1997). Potamodromy in Salmonidae: living and moving in the fast lane. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 17: 1029–1045.
- Olsen JB, Wuttig K, Fleming D, Kretschmer EJ and Wenburg JK (2006). Evidence of partial anadromy and resident-form dispersal bias on a fine scale in populations of Oncorhynchus mykiss. Conservation Genetics 7: 613–619.
- Olsson IC and Greenberg LA (2004). Partial migration in a landlocked brown trout population. Journal of Fish Biology 65: 106–121.
- Olsson IC, Greenberg LA, Bergman E and Wysujack K (2006). Environmentally induced migration: the importance of food. Ecology Letters 9: 645–651.
- Peterson JT and Dunham J (2003). Combining inferences from models of capture efficiency, detectability, and suitable habitat to classify landscapes for conservation of threatened bull trout. Conservation Biology 17: 1070–1077.
- Pollard WR, Hartman GF, Groot C and Edgell P (1997). Field identification of coastal juvenile salmonids. Harbour Publishing, Madeira Park, British Columbia.
- Power ME (1984). Depth distributions of armored catfish: predator-induced resource avoidance? Ecology 65: 523–528.
- Quinn TP and Kinnison MT (1999). Size-selective and sex-selective predation by brown bears on sockeye salmon. Oecologia 121: 273–282.
- Quinn TP (2005). The behavior and ecology of Pacific salmon and trout. University of Washington Press, Seattle, Washington, USA.
- Reeves GH, Benda LE, Burnett KM, Bisson PA and Sedell JR (1995). A disturbancebased ecosystem approach to maintaining and restoring freshwater habitats of evolutionarily significant units of anadromous salmonids in the Pacific Northwest. American Fisheries Society Symposium 17: 334–349.

- Reice S, Wissmar R and Naiman R (1990). Disturbance regimes, resilience, and recovery of animal communities and habitats in lotic ecosystems. Environmental Management 14: 647–659.
- Rieman BE, Myers DL and Nielsen RL (1994). Use of otolith microchemistry to discriminate *Oncorhynchus nerka* of resident and anadromous origin. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 51: 68–77.
- Roni P, Beechie TJ, Bilby RE, Leonetti FE, Pollock MM and Pess GR (2002). A review of stream restoration techniques and a hierarchical strategy for prioritizing restoration in Pacific Northwest watersheds. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 22: 1–20.
- Rosenberg MS (2005). PASSaGE. Pattern Analysis, Spatial Statistics and Geographic Exegesis. Version 1.1.3.4. Department of Biology, Arizona State University, Tempe, Arizona.
- Sanborn SC and Bledsoe BP (2006). Predicting streamflow regime metrics for ungauged streams in Colorado, Washington, and Oregon. Journal of Hydrology 325: 241–261.
- Silsbee DG and Larson GL (1982). Water quality of streams in the Great Smoky Mountains National Park. Hydrobiologia 89: 97–115.
- Stevens DL and Olsen AR (2004). Spatially balanced sampling of natural resources. Journal of the American Statistical Association 99: 262–278.
- Swingland IR (1983). Intraspecific differences in movements. *In* Swingland IR and Greenwood PJ (eds.), The ecology of animal movement, pp. 102–115. Clarendon, Oxford.
- Tattam IA (2006). Seasonal life history of *Oncorhynchus mykiss* in the South Fork John Day River, Oregon State University: Corvallis, OR. 145pp.
- Thériault V and Dodson JJ (2003). Body size and the adoption of a migratory tactic in brook charr. Journal of Fish Biology 63: 1144–1159.
- Thériault V, Garant D, Bernatchez L and Dodson JJ (2007). Heritability of life-history tactics and genetic correlation with body size in a natural population of brook charr (*Salvelinus fontinalis*). Journal of Evolutionary Biology 20: 2266–2277.
- Thorpe JE and Metcalfe NB (1998). Is smolting a positive or a negative developmental decision? Aquaculture 168: 95–103.

- Torgersen CE, Price DM, Li HW and McIntosh BA (1999). Multiscale thermal refugia and stream habitat associations of Chinook salmon in northeastern Oregon. Ecological Applications 9: 301–319.
- Torgersen CE, Baxter CV, Li HW and McIntosh BA (2006). Landscape influences on longitudinal patterns of river fishes: spatially continuous analysis of fish-habitat relationships. American Fisheries Society Symposium 48: 473–492.
- Van Dyke ES, Keefe M, Jonasson BC and Carmichael RW (2001). Aspects of life history and production of juvenile *Oncorhynchus mykiss* in the Grande Ronde River basin, northeast Oregon, 1995–1999 summary report. Report to Bonneville Power Administration, Contract No. 1994B133299, Project No. 199202604. p. 40.
- Vannote RL, Minshall GW, Cummins KW, Sedell JR and Cushing CE (1980). The river continuum concept. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 37: 130– 137.
- Volk EC (1999). Otolith strontium:calcium ratios in four populations of anadromous and resident *Oncorhynchus mykiss* from Eastern Oregon. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife. Otolith Laboratory., Olympia, WA.
- Wells BK, Rieman BE, Clayton JL, Horan DL and Jones CM (2003). Relationships between water, otolith, and scale chemistries of Westslope cutthroat rout from the Coeur d'Alene River, Idaho: the potential application of hard-part chemistry to describe movements in freshwater. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 132: 409–424.
- Wiens JA (2002). Riverine landscapes: taking landscape ecology into the water. Freshwater Biology 47: 501–515.
- Wysujack K, Greenberg LA, Bergman E and Olsson IC (in press). The role of the environment in partial migration: food availability affects the adoption of a migratory tactic in brown trout *Salmo trutta*. Ecology of Freshwater Fish.
- Zimmerman CE and Reeves GH (2000). Population structure of sympatric anadromous and nonanadromous *Oncorhynchus mykiss*: evidence from spawning surveys and otolith microchemistry. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 57: 2152–2162.
- Zimmerman CE and Reeves GH (2002). Identification of steelhead and resident rainbow trout progeny in the Deschutes River, Oregon, revealed with otolith microchemistry. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 131: 986–993.

Zimmerman CE (2005). Relationship of otolith strontium-to-calcium ratios and salinity: experimental validation for juvenile salmonids. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 62: 88–97.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A - WATER CHEMISTRY ANALYSIS

Table A-1 Mean freshwater microchemistry for otolith sampling sites in the John Day River in 2007. The flame atomic absorption method used was not sensitive enough to consistently detect the levels of Ba and Mn in our water samples. In similar analysis, an inductively coupled plasma (ICP) optical emission spectrophotometer provided adequate sensitivity to measure all these parameters in similar sampling conditions and parent material (Wells et al. 2003).

		Conce	ntration (ppr	n)		Мо	lar ratio (mmol/ma	ol)
ODFW Site ID -	Са	Sr	Mg	Mn	Ba	Sr:Ca	Mn:Ca	MgCa	BaCa
OJD03458-007	38.93	0.1	16.665	0.025	0.2	1.17	0.47	706	1.50
OJD03458-011	45.895	0.13	11.1	0.005	0.2	1.30	0.08	399	1.27
OJD03458-017	27.775	0.21	10.17	0	0.2	3.46	0.00	604	2.10
OJD03458-019	6.16	0.05	2.365	0.02	0.1	3.71	2.37	633	4.74
OJD03458-020	23.71	0.06	10.56	0	0.1	1.16	0.00	734	1.23
OJD03458-027	10.86	0.07	5.785	0	0.1	2.95	0.00	878	2.69
OJD03458-031	26.545	0.14	9.815	0	0.2	2.41	0.00	610	2.20
OJD03458-033	58.515	0.2	20.725	0	0.3	1.56	0.00	584	1.50
OJD03458-034	32.475	0.075	24.96	0.025	0.25	1.06	0.56	1267	2.25
OJD03458-042	17.7625	0.075	7.8325	0.01	0.225	1.93	0.41	727	3.70
OJD03458-044	17.965	0.07	8.425	0	0.25	1.78	0.00	773	4.06
OJD03458-050	11.47	0.08	5.525	0.02	0.1	3.19	1.27	794	2.54
OJD03458-052	15.09	0.08	8.565	0	0.1	2.42	0.00	936	1.93
OJD03458-062	10.265	0.07	3.795	0.01	0.1	3.12	0.71	610	2.84
OJD03458-066	56.17	0.21	5.665	0	0.3	1.71	0.00	166	1.56
OJD03458-074	9.755	0.04	6.71	0	0.1	1.88	0.00	1134	2.99
OJD03458-086	3.39	0.02	1.07	0	0.1	2.70	0.00	520	8.61
OJD03458-087	10.585	0.04	4.115	0	0.1	1.73	0.00	641	2.76
OJD03458-090	3.815	0.02	12.93	0	0.1	2.40	0.00	5589	7.65
OJD03458-094	12.645	0.04	4.94	0	0.1	1.45	0.00	644	2.31
OJD03458-095	18.225	0.11	4.925	0	0.2	2.76	0.00	446	3.20
OJD03458-097	19.435	0.05	7.91	0	0.2	1.18	0.00	671	3.00
OJD03458-106	39.935	0.31	23.2	0.005	0.3	3.55	0.09	958	2.19
OJD03458-107	15.11	0.1	3.765	0	0.2	3.03	0.00	411	3.86
OJD03458-108	8.18	0.05	3.905	0	0.2	2.80	0.00	787	7.14
OJD03458-111	16.94	0.11	7.27	0	0.1	2.97	0.00	708	1.72
OJD03458-115	1.63	0.02	0.44	0	0	5.61	0.00	445	0.00
OJD03458-116	23.485	0.06	10.98	0	0.1	1.17	0.00	771	1.24
OJD03458-122	24.39	0.11	8.295	0	0.2	2.06	0.00	561	2.39
OJD03458-129	30.97	0.16	10.7925	0	0.2	2.36	0.00	575	1.88
OJD03458-132	20.815	0.07	8.805	0.005	0.2	1.54	0.18	698	2.80
OJD03458-133	8.575	0.07	3.295	0	0.15	3.73	0.00	634	5.11
OJD03458-134	45.86	0.31	22.13	0.195	0.3	3.09	3.10	796	1.91
OJD03458-140	17.94	0.045	6.66	0	0.2	1.15	0.00	612	3.25
OJD03458-146	32.16	0.1	13.6	0	0.25	1.42	0.00	697	2.27
OJD03458-148	20.88	0.18	11.675	0	0.2	3.94	0.00	922	2.80

ODEW Site ID		Conce	ntration (pp	Mo	Molar ratio (mmol/mol)				
ODI W She ID	Ca	Sr	Mg	Mn	Ba	Sr:Ca	Mn:Ca	MgCa	BaCa
OJD03458-369	25.31	0.11	8.1	0	0.1	1.99	0.00	528	1.15
OJD03458-496	19.165	0.14	7.635	0.01	0.15	3.34	0.38	657	2.28
OJD03458-497	14.85	0.07	4.36	0	0.1	2.16	0.00	484	1.97
OJD03458-505	25.245	0.135	10.12	0	0.1	2.45	0.00	661	1.16
OJD03458-514	25.225	0.13	11.495	0	0.2	2.36	0.00	751	2.31
OJD03458-516	4.95	0.025	1.695	0	0.1	2.31	0.00	565	5.90
OJD03458-517	3.485	0.02	1.61	0	0.1	2.63	0.00	762	8.37
OJD03458-519	42.49	0.28	20.135	0	0.3	3.01	0.00	781	2.06
OJD03458-522	20.76	0.16	4.19	0	0.15	3.53	0.00	333	2.11
OJD03458-524	64.385	0.27	10.93	0	0.35	1.92	0.00	280	1.59
OJD03458-531	4.88	0.05	1.295	0	0.1	4.69	0.00	438	5.98
OJD03458-532	73.65	0.34	11.04	0.005	0.4	2.11	0.05	247	1.59
OJD03458-533	18.94	0.12	5.68	0	0.25	2.90	0.00	495	3.85
OJD03458-535	7.645	0.06	5.105	0	0.2	3.59	0.00	1101	7.63
OJD03458-536	10.43	0.06	9.655	0	0.2	2.63	0.00	1526	5.60
OJD03458-548	36.665	0.17	11.56	0	0.2	2.12	0.00	520	1.59
OJD03458-549	5.69	0.05	2.415	0	0.1	4.02	0.00	700	5.13
OJD03458-558	8.945	0.04	3.695	0	0.1	2.05	0.00	681	3.26
OJD03458-561	9.145	0.07	3.44	0	0.1	3.50	0.00	620	3.19
OJD03458-564	10.105	0.06	3.985	0.07	0.1	2.72	5.05	650	2.89
OJD03458-565	15.41	0.09	8.98	0.01	0.1	2.67	0.47	961	1.89
OJD03458-567	8.63	0.04	6.33	0	0.1	2.12	0.00	1209	3.38
OJD03458-569	13.13	0.07	5.085	0.01	0.15	2.44	0.56	639	3.33
OJD03458-570	7.425	0.07	2.495	0	0.15	4.31	0.00	554	5.90
OJD03458-571	30.06	0.13	7.83	0	0.15	1.98	0.00	430	1.46
OJD03458-573	5.8	0.06	2.1	0	0.1	4.73	0.00	597	5.03
OJD03458-584	6.15	0.04	8.15	0	0.1	2.98	0.00	2185	4.75
OJD03458-585	12.255	0.08	6.91	0	0.2	2.99	0.00	930	4.76
OJD03458-586	6.11	0.04	10.655	0	0.2	2.99	0.00	2876	9.55
OJD03458-587	18.05	0.05	9.405	0.01	0.1	1.27	0.40	859	1.62
OJD03458-595	9.735	0.05	4.29	0	0.15	2.35	0.00	727	4.50
OJD03458-596	19.58	0.08	7.395	0	0.2	1.87	0.00	623	2.98
OJD03458-600	10.74	0.045	12.445	0	0.1	1.92	0.00	1911	2.72
OJD03458-604	5.82	0.045	1.89	0	0.1	3.54	0.00	535	5.01
OJD03458-608	5.99	0.03	7.17	0	0.1	2.29	0.00	1974	4.87



Figure A-1 Water total alkalinity (ppm) and conductivity (μ S/cm), with linear regression, as tested at otolith sampling sites in the John Day River in 2007. Stream water conductivity and alkalinity were highly correlated, as in previous studies (e.g. Silsbee and Larson 1982; Koetsier et al. 1996; Kney and Brandes 2007). A simple linear regression model on conductivity with no intercept parameter explained almost all of the variation in alkalinity (r2 = 0.99, P < 0.0001; df = 1; n = 81).

APPENDIX B – FISH AND SITE DATA

Table B-1 Data from juvenile fish collected in the John Day River basin in 2007 and used for logisticregression modeling on expression of anadromy.

ODFW Site ID	Stream name	Sample date	FishID	Fork length (mm)	Age	Steelhead progeny?	Data set
OJD03458-011	Service Creek	7/17/2007	011A	52	0	1	Fitting
OJD03458-017	West Fork Lick Creek	8/6/2007	017B	98	1	0	Fitting
OJD03458-019	Tribble Creek	7/9/2007	019A	94	1	0	Fitting
OJD03458-020	Belshaw Creek	6/29/2007	020B	84	1	0	Fitting
OJD03458-027	Middle Fork John Day River	7/18/2007	027A	87	1	1	Fitting
OJD03458-033	Deer Creek	6/28/2007	033A	89	1	1	Fitting
OJD03458-034	Caribou Creek	7/18/2007	034B	91	1	0	Fitting
OJD03458-042	Rock Creek	8/3/2007	042A	52	0	1	Fitting
OJD03458-044	Flat Creek	6/29/2007	044A	87	1	0	Fitting
OJD03458-048	Bear Wallow Creek	8/4/2007	048A	58	1	0	Fitting
OJD03458-050	Bull Run Creek	8/5/2007	050A	58	0	1	Fitting
OJD03458-052	Granite Creek	7/19/2007	052A	43	0	1	Fitting
OJD03458-062	Fivemile Creek	7/9/2007	062A	52	0	1	Fitting
OJD03458-068	Ferry Canyon	7/15/2007	068B	78	0	0	Fitting
OJD03458-074	Clear Creek	9/4/2007	074A	62	0	1	Fitting
OJD03458-078	Beech Creek	7/5/2007	078A	45	0	1	Fitting
OJD03458-087	Baldy Creek	6/30/2007	087A	65	1	0	Fitting
OJD03458-090	North Fork Desolation Creek	8/4/2007	090B	78	1	0	Fitting
OJD03458-094	Indian Creek	7/1/2007	094A	60	1	0	Fitting
OJD03458-095	Granite Creek	7/20/2007	095A	56	1	0	Fitting
OJD03458-097	North Fork Wind Creek	6/27/2007	097A	94	1	0	Fitting
OJD03458-106	Bear Creek	8/1/2007	106A	50	0	0	Fitting
OJD03458-107	Myrtle Creek	7/10/2007	107B	96	1	1	Fitting
OJD03458-108	Granite Boulder Creek	7/17/2007	108A	63	1	0	Fitting
OJD03458-111	East Fork Beech Creek	8/2/2007	111A	92	1	1	Fitting
OJD03458-116	Cummings Creek	8/3/2007	116A	63	0	0	Fitting
OJD03458-122	Davis Creek	7/18/2007	122A	62	1	0	Fitting
OJD03458-129	South Fork John Day River	6/27/2007	129B	62	0	1	Fitting
OJD03458-132	Wilson Creek	7/8/2007	132A	52	0	1	Fitting
OJD03458-133	Fivemile Creek	7/20/2007	133A	44	0	1	Fitting
OJD03458-134	Bear Creek	7/2/2007	134A	73	1	1	Fitting
OJD03458-140	Black Canyon Creek	8/2/2007	140G	49	0	1	Fitting
OJD03458-145	Buckhorn Creek	7/12/2007	145B	93	1	0	Fitting
OJD03458-148	Coyote Creek	8/5/2007	148B	65	0	0	Fitting
OJD03458-369	Murderers Creek	9/9/2007	369B	63	1	1	Fitting
OJD03458-496	Beaver Creek	7/20/2007	496A	68	1	1	Fitting
OJD03458-505	Camp Creek	7/11/2007	505A	46	0	1	Fitting
OJD03458-514	Pine Hollow	8/25/2007	514A	72	1	0	Fitting
OJD03458-516	Indian Creek	7/17/2007	516A	58	1	0	Fitting

ODFW Site ID	Stream name	Sample date	FishID	Fork length	Age	Steelhead	Data set
01003458-517	Big Creek	7/10/2007	5174	(IIIII) 74	1	0	Fitting
OID03458-519	Bear Creek	8/1/2007	510A	/4	0	0	Fitting
01D03458 522	Beaver Creek	7/17/2007	522 A	71	0	1	Fitting
OID03458-522	Dear Creek	6/28/2007	522A	76	1	1	Fitting
OID03458-524	Mondow Crook	0/26/2007 8/26/2007	521D	70 91	1	1	Fitting
OJD03458-531	Creatite Create	8/20/2007 7/20/2007	522 4	61	1	1	Fitting
OJD03438-333	Vinesee Creek	7/10/2007	555A	00	1	0	Fitting
OJD03458-536	Vinegar Creek	7/18/2007	530B	()	1	1	Fitting
OJD03458-548	Lick Creek	7/19/2007	548A	08	1	1	Fitting
OJD03458-549	Reynolds Creek	//20/2007	549A	61	1	0	Fitting
OJD03458-552	Badger Creek	9/10/2007	552B	62	1	1	Fitting
OJD03458-557	Rock Creek	6/28/2007	557B	80	0	l	Fitting
OJD03458-558	Indian Creek	7/23/2007	558B	99	l	l	Fitting
OJD03458-561	Ditch Creek	8/20/2007	561A	52	0	0	Fitting
OJD03458-564	Bridge Creek	8/25/2007	564A	74	1	0	Fitting
OJD03458-565	Granite Creek	8/21/2007	565B	85	1	1	Fitting
OJD03458-567	Desolation Creek	8/20/2007	567A	59	0	1	Fitting
OJD03458-569	Camas Creek	8/26/2007	569A	55	0	1	Fitting
OJD03458-570	North Trail Creek	8/27/2007	570C	49	0	1	Fitting
OJD03458-571	Bear Creek	9/6/2007	571C	55	0	1	Fitting
OJD03458-573	John Day River	8/22/2007	573B	85	1	1	Fitting
OJD03458-575	Davis Creek	8/22/2007	575A	74	1	1	Fitting
OJD03458-584	Desolation Creek	8/21/2007	584B	78	1	1	Fitting
OJD03458-585	Sponge Creek	8/21/2007	585A	75	1	1	Fitting
OJD03458-586	North Fork Desolation Creek	8/21/2007	586A	77	1	1	Fitting
OJD03458-587	Mallory Creek	8/20/2007	587B	85	1	1	Fitting
OJD03458-595	Lake Creek	8/28/2007	595A	61	0	1	Fitting
OJD03458-596	Duncan Creek	8/18/2007	596B	85	1	0	Fitting
OJD03458-600	Vinegar Creek	8/21/2007	600B	85	1	1	Fitting
OJD03458-604	Pole Creek	8/19/2007	604B	54	0	0	Fitting
OJD03458-605	Desolation Creek	8/21/2007	605A	51	0	1	Fitting
OID03458-017	West Fork Lick Creek	8/6/2007	017A	55	1	1	Validation
OID03458-019	Tribble Creek	7/9/2007	019B	95	1	0	Validation
OID03458-020	Belshaw Creek	6/29/2007	020A	72	1	0	Validation
OID03458-027	Middle Fork John Day River	7/18/2007	020M	, 2 87	1	1	Validation
OID03458-033	Deer Creek	6/28/2007	027B	91	1	1	Validation
OID03458-034	Caribou Creek	7/18/2007	034 A	87	1	1	Validation
$01D03458_0/2$	Rock Creek	8/3/2007	047R	50	0	1	Validation
OID03458-050	Rull Run Creek	8/5/2007	050R	8/I	1	1	Validation
01D03458 068	Ferry Canyon	7/15/2007	068 4	61	0	0	Validation
01003450 074	Clear Creek	0/4/2007	000A	00	1	1	Validation
01D02459 000	North Fork Decolation Crash	9/4/2007	0/4D	70 70	1	1	Validation
OID02458-090	North Fork Desolation Creek	6/4/2007	090A	/0	1	0	v anuation
01003458-09/	North FORK WING Creek	0/2//2007	09/B	90 50	1	0	valuation
01003458-106	Dear Creek	8/1/2007	1000	52	1	1	valuation
OJD03458-107	Myrtle Creek	//10/2007	10/A	91	1	1	Validation
OJD03458-122	Davis Creek	//18/2007	122B	79	1	1	Validation
OJD03458-129	South Fork John Day River	6/27/2007	129A	62	0	1	Validation
ODFW Site ID	Stream name	Sample date	FishID	Fork length (mm)	Age	Steelhead progeny?	Data set
--------------	-----------------------------	-------------	--------	------------------	-----	--------------------	------------
OJD03458-140	Black Canyon Creek	8/2/2007	140D	48	0	1	Validation
OJD03458-145	Buckhorn Creek	7/12/2007	145A	94	1	1	Validation
OJD03458-148	Coyote Creek	8/5/2007	148A	59	0	0	Validation
OJD03458-369	Murderers Creek	9/9/2007	369A	56	1	1	Validation
OJD03458-496	Beaver Creek	7/20/2007	496B	71	1	1	Validation
OJD03458-514	Pine Hollow	8/25/2007	514B	74	0	0	Validation
OJD03458-517	Big Creek	7/10/2007	517C	81	1	0	Validation
OJD03458-524	Deer Creek	6/28/2007	524A	61	0	0	Validation
OJD03458-531	Meadow Creek	8/26/2007	531A	58	1	0	Validation
OJD03458-536	Vinegar Creek	7/18/2007	536A	61	1	1	Validation
OJD03458-548	Lick Creek	7/19/2007	548B	80	1	1	Validation
OJD03458-549	Reynolds Creek	7/20/2007	549B	87	1	1	Validation
OJD03458-557	Rock Creek	6/28/2007	557A	71	0	1	Validation
OJD03458-558	Indian Creek	7/23/2007	558A	51	0	1	Validation
OJD03458-561	Ditch Creek	8/20/2007	561B	100	1	1	Validation
OJD03458-564	Bridge Creek	8/25/2007	564B	82	1	0	Validation
OJD03458-565	Granite Creek	8/21/2007	565A	58	0	1	Validation
OJD03458-567	Desolation Creek	8/20/2007	567B	98	1	1	Validation
OJD03458-569	Camas Creek	8/26/2007	569B	101	1	0	Validation
OJD03458-570	North Trail Creek	8/27/2007	570B	84	1	1	Validation
OJD03458-571	Bear Creek	9/6/2007	571B	92	1	1	Validation
OJD03458-573	John Day River	8/22/2007	573A	52	0	0	Validation
OJD03458-584	Desolation Creek	8/21/2007	584A	55	0	1	Validation
OJD03458-585	Sponge Creek	8/21/2007	585B	81	1	1	Validation
OJD03458-586	North Fork Desolation Creek	8/21/2007	586B	84	1	1	Validation
OJD03458-587	Mallory Creek	8/20/2007	587A	60	0	1	Validation
OJD03458-595	Lake Creek	8/28/2007	595B	80	1	0	Validation
OJD03458-596	Duncan Creek	8/18/2007	596A	57	0	0	Validation
OJD03458-600	Vinegar Creek	8/21/2007	600A	71	1	1	Validation
OJD03458-604	Pole Creek	8/19/2007	604A	52	0	0	Validation
OJD03458-605	Desolation Creek	8/21/2007	605B	72	1	0	Validation
OJD03458-106	Bear Creek	8/1/2007	106B	90	1	0	N/A
OJD03458-140	Black Canyon Creek	8/2/2007	140C	55	0	1	N/A
OJD03458-140	Black Canyon Creek	8/2/2007	140F	50	0	1	N/A
OJD03458-140	Black Canyon Creek	8/2/2007	140E	48	0	1	N/A
OJD03458-570	North Trail Creek	8/27/2007	570A	50	0	1	N/A
OJD03458-571	Bear Creek	9/6/2007	571A	56	0	1	N/A
OJD03458-011	Service Creek	7/17/2007	011B	135	2	1	N/A
OJD03458-031	Camp Creek	7/11/2007	031B	89	2	1	N/A
OJD03458-048	Bear Wallow Creek	8/4/2007	048B	80	2	1	N/A
OJD03458-052	Granite Creek	7/19/2007	052C	90	2	1	N/A
OJD03458-052	Granite Creek	7/19/2007	052B	95	2	1	N/A
OJD03458-078	Beech Creek	7/5/2007	078B	104	2	1	N/A
OJD03458-086	Hideaway Creek	8/4/2007	086A	72	2	0	N/A
OJD03458-086	Hideaway Creek	8/4/2007	086B	79	2	0	N/A
OJD03458-087	Baldy Creek	6/30/2007	087B	87	2	0	N/A

ODFW Site ID	Stream name	Sample date	FishID	Fork length (mm)	Age	Steelhead progeny?	Data set
OJD03458-094	Indian Creek	7/1/2007	094B	99	2	1	N/A
OJD03458-095	Granite Creek	7/20/2007	095B	76	2	0	N/A
OJD03458-111	East Fork Beech Creek	8/2/2007	111B	95	2	1	N/A
OJD03458-116	Cummings Creek	8/3/2007	116B	93	2	0	N/A
OJD03458-132	Wilson Creek	7/8/2007	132B	102	2	1	N/A
OJD03458-133	Fivemile Creek	7/20/2007	133B	99	2	0	N/A
OJD03458-134	Bear Creek	7/2/2007	134B	85	2	1	N/A
OJD03458-505	Camp Creek	7/11/2007	505B	93	2	1	N/A
OJD03458-516	Indian Creek	7/17/2007	516B	98	2	0	N/A
OJD03458-517	Big Creek	7/10/2007	517B	95	2	1	N/A
OJD03458-519	Bear Creek	8/1/2007	519B	98	2	0	N/A
OJD03458-522	Beaver Creek	7/17/2007	522B	84	2	1	N/A
OJD03458-533	Granite Creek	7/20/2007	533B	99	2	0	N/A
OJD03458-552	Badger Creek	9/10/2007	552A	112	2	1	N/A
OJD03458-575	Davis Creek	8/22/2007	575B	97	2	1	N/A
OJD03458-062	Fivemile Creek	7/9/2007	062B	104	3	0	N/A
OJD03458-505	Camp Creek	7/11/2007	505C	74	3	1	N/A
OJD03458-535	Battle Creek	7/21/2007	535A	79	3	1	N/A

Table B-2 Location and estimated mean annual runoff (MAR), both untransformed (m^3/s) and log_e -transformed, for our 2007 John Day River juvenile *O. mykiss* sampling sites. Mean annual runoff was estimated from area (km^2) and area-weighted mean precipitation (mm) for each sampling site's catchment basin.

ODFW Site ID	Stream name	Latitude	Longitude	Mean annual runoff (MAR)	log(MAR)	Mean precipitation	Catchment area
OJD03458-011	Service Creek	44.79682	-120.00257	0.113	-2.18	40298	79.8
OJD03458-017	West Fork Lick Creek	44.62336	-118.78790	0.060	-2.81	57483	18.8
OJD03458-019	Tribble Creek	45.15449	-119.15273	0.074	-2.60	78889	10.8
OJD03458-020	Belshaw Creek	44.53354	-119.26309	0.041	-3.19	50971	17.4
OJD03458-027	Middle Fork John Day River	44.63412	-118.61401	2.261	0.82	67656	405.5
OJD03458-031	Camp Creek	44.60097	-118.87055	0.163	-1.82	57613	48.3
OJD03458-033	Deer Creek	44.19360	-119.50019	0.236	-1.45	43352	134.7
OJD03458-034	Caribou Creek	44.64153	-118.55532	0.021	-3.85	59649	6.4
OJD03458-042	Rock Creek	44.50770	-119.74091	0.721	-0.33	58827	189.8
OJD03458-044	Flat Creek	44.42628	-119.42728	0.023	-3.78	42006	15.7
OJD03458-048	Bear Wallow Creek	45.22742	-118.72467	0.094	-2.37	71292	17.2
OJD03458-050	Bull Run Creek	44.79897	-118.40674	0.370	-0.99	67422	72.8
OJD03458-052	Granite Creek	44.84769	-118.52988	1.993	0.69	70596	325.2
OJD03458-062	Fivemile Creek	45.12524	-119.10756	0.373	-0.99	76931	53.6
OJD03458-068	Ferry Canyon	45.34986	-120.47140	0.224	-1.50	33789	232.0
OJD03458-074	Clear Creek	44.77083	-118.48808	0.401	-0.91	84378	46.1
OJD03458-078	Beech Creek	44.43464	-119.07295	0.591	-0.53	47877	256.1
OJD03458-086	Hidaway Creek	45.11297	-118.68184	0.253	-1.38	72232	43.0
OJD03458-087	Baldy Creek	44.38572	-119.76490	0.041	-3.20	77706	6.4
OJD03458-090	North Fork Desolation Creek	44.80559	-118.61960	0.125	-2.08	83300	15.7
OJD03458-094	Indian Creek	44.48385	-120.06390	0.059	-2.84	66866	12.8
OJD03458-095	Granite Creek	44.84840	-118.40235	0.092	-2.39	73715	15.6
OJD03458-097	North Fork Wind Creek	44.27581	-119.58758	0.046	-3.07	47907	22.5
OJD03458-106	Bear Creek	44.51233	-118.76595	0.071	-2.65	62503	18.0
OJD03458-107	Myrtle Creek	44.71561	-118.72069	0.025	-3.68	61678	6.9
OJD03458-108	Granite Boulder Creek	44.67955	-118.61349	0.171	-1.77	87374	18.8
OJD03458-111	East Fork Beech Creek	44.51110	-118.96850	0.141	-1.96	52976	51.2
OJD03458-115	Hidaway Creek	45.08664	-118.62640	0.101	-2.29	76051	15.8
OJD03458-116	Cummings Creek	44.47586	-119.34471	0.070	-2.65	46561	35.9
OJD03458-122	Davis Creek	44.57730	-118.55510	0.073	-2.62	63275	17.9
OJD03458-129	South Fork John Day River	44.43691	-119.53686	3.343	1.21	44954	1552.2
OJD03458-132	Wilson Creek	44.96017	-119.57648	0.199	-1.61	46307	98.1
OJD03458-133	Fivemile Creek	45.08600	-119.04873	0.700	-0.36	73469	109.0
OJD03458-134	Bear Creek	44.46270	-118.77982	0.167	-1.79	57621	49.4
OJD03458-140	Black Canyon Creek	44.34071	-119.60557	0.163	-1.82	57292	48.8
OJD03458-145	Buckhorn Creek	45.02804	-119.91830	0.084	-2.48	46765	42.0
OJD03458-148	Coyote Creek	44.69783	-118.74801	0.008	-4.89	51494	3.4
OJD03458-369	Murderers Creek	44.31244	-119.50710	0.540	-0.62	41714	325.4
OJD03458-496	Beaver Creek	44.76508	-118.42291	0.065	-2.74	65026	15.0
OJD03458-505	Camp Creek	44.56040	-118.82856	0.050	-3.00	63017	12.6

ODFW Site ID	Stream name	Latitude	Longitude	Mean annual runoff (MAR)	log(MAR)	Mean precipitation	Catchment area
OJD03458-514	Pine Hollow	45.03202	-120.65720	0.064	-2.75	35583	61.8
OJD03458-516	Indian Creek	44.81330	-118.77988	0.037	-3.31	73904	6.4
OJD03458-517	Big Creek	44.77869	-118.68729	0.068	-2.69	82116	9.1
OJD03458-519	Bear Creek	44.49842	-118.77325	0.141	-1.96	60293	37.9
OJD03458-522	Beaver Creek	44.65334	-118.67642	0.047	-3.05	59765	13.6
OJD03458-524	Deer Creek	44.20258	-119.36282	0.107	-2.23	44572	59.6
OJD03458-531	Meadow Creek	44.98503	-118.58683	0.301	-1.20	73528	48.7
OJD03458-533	Granite Creek	44.83014	-118.41477	0.092	-2.39	73715	15.6
OJD03458-535	Battle Creek	44.86302	-118.74783	0.067	-2.71	67932	14.0
OJD03458-536	Vinegar Creek	44.60401	-118.52987	0.164	-1.81	69749	30.8
OJD03458-548	Lick Creek	44.84689	-118.51470	0.016	-4.13	63507	4.2
OJD03458-549	Reynolds Creek	44.41558	-118.53768	0.437	-0.83	75261	65.7
OJD03458-552	Badger Creek	44.51409	-120.06242	0.245	-1.41	65912	51.9
OJD03458-557	Rock Creek	45.52502	-120.20999	1.702	0.53	38349	1188.2
OJD03458-558	Indian Creek	44.84148	-118.88882	0.104	-2.27	65419	23.2
OJD03458-561	Ditch Creek	45.08971	-119.33817	0.227	-1.48	67688	45.3
OJD03458-564	Bridge Creek	45.03931	-118.86542	0.023	-3.75	59360	7.1
OJD03458-565	Granite Creek	44.83441	-118.46748	1.738	0.55	70924	282.2
OJD03458-567	Desolation Creek	44.89838	-118.79784	1.114	0.11	74419	164.8
OJD03458-569	Camas Creek	45.17624	-118.60058	0.090	-2.41	61222	23.7
OJD03458-570	North Trail Creek	44.95257	-118.37917	0.126	-2.07	81344	16.6
OJD03458-571	Bear Creek	44.65589	-120.29679	0.400	-0.92	45817	195.9
OJD03458-573	John Day River	44.33977	-118.57430	0.455	-0.79	85052	51.1
OJD03458-575	Davis Creek	44.58075	-118.54922	0.073	-2.62	63275	17.9
OJD03458-584	Desolation Creek	44.83331	-118.71411	0.614	-0.49	83300	71.5
OJD03458-585	Sponge Creek	44.85342	-118.73034	0.044	-3.13	68297	9.2
OJD03458-586	North Fork Desolation Creek	44.81998	-118.67335	0.247	-1.40	81198	31.8
OJD03458-587	Mallory Creek	44.99014	-119.29386	0.163	-1.82	56812	49.8
OJD03458-595	Lake Creek	44.82154	-118.59303	0.295	-1.22	84336	34.5
OJD03458-596	Duncan Creek	44.29899	-119.40613	0.035	-3.34	42810	22.7
OJD03458-600	Vinegar Creek	44.65052	-118.51015	0.120	-2.12	73715	20.2
OJD03458-604	Pole Creek	45.12322	-119.23701	0.075	-2.59	82895	9.7
OJD03458-605	Desolation Creek	44.84586	-118.73676	0.777	-0.25	79017	101.4



Figure B-1 Histograms of mean annual runoff for the John Day River sample sites, (a) untransformed and (b) \log_e -transformed. Data are modeled using 1971-2000 mean annual precipitation data (Anonymous 2006a) for stream sampling sites (n = 69) using parameters from Sanborn and Bledsoe (2006).



Figure B-2 Sites where juvenile *O. mykiss* were collected during summer 2007 in the John Day River basin, with site numbers as in Tables B-1 and B-2.

Table C-1 We considered these other variables during our model design process: elevation (m); slope (m/m); conductivity (μ S/cm); downstream distance from site to the Pacific Ocean (km); and area-weighted mean winter (December, January, and February) air temperature.

ODFW Site ID	Elevation	Slope	Conductivity	Distance to	Mean winter
01D03458-011	505	0.03	377.0	597	0.15
OID03458-017	1294	0.05	230.7	775	-2 11
OID03458-019	1463	0.00	63.0	758	-1.93
OID03458-020	1397	0.01	211.7	719	-1.83
OID03458-027	1162	0.00	120.0	786	-3 57
OID03458-031	1326	0.03	224.3	778	-2.07
OID03458-033	1157	0.03	424.3	726	-1.81
OID03458-034	1336	0.06	321.5	790	-3.15
OID03458-042	872	0.02	257.0	682	-1 48
OID03458-044	998	0.10	158.8	696	-0.78
OID03458-048	1407	0.03	83.7	768	-2.24
OID03458-050	1412	0.02	115.2	794	-3.94
OJD03458-052	1283	0.02	147.6	782	-3.94
OJD03458-062	1357	0.02	100.8	754	-1.89
OJD03458-068	360	0.02	314.0	434	0.52
OJD03458-074	1578	0.03	103.0	802	-4.20
OJD03458-078	952	0.01		730	-1.33
OJD03458-086	1363	0.02	38.3	773	-3.04
OJD03458-087	1834	0.06	91.6	708	-3.12
OJD03458-090	1748	0.05	109.7	774	-4.00
OJD03458-094	1465	0.06	115.1	714	-1.85
OJD03458-095	1528	0.03	148.5	796	-4.16
OJD03458-097	1098	0.05	163.8	717	-1.08
OJD03458-106	1211	0.04	399.0	764	-2.33
OJD03458-107	1437	0.11	96.6	780	-2.35
OJD03458-108	1393	0.09	78.0	787	-4.02
OJD03458-111	1190	0.02	166.3	749	-1.53
OJD03458-115	1605	0.03	22.9	782	-3.42
OJD03458-116	968	0.03	218.0	706	-1.00
OJD03458-122	1327	0.03	166.7	793	-3.15
OJD03458-129	750	0.01	268.7	686	-1.79
OJD03458-132	959	0.02	202.5	702	-0.68
OJD03458-133	1134	0.03	90.3	744	-1.76
OJD03458-134	1100	0.02	390.0	756	-1.91
OJD03458-140	997	0.05	149.4	709	-1.83
OJD03458-145	1015	0.03	238.6	485	-0.88
OJD03458-148	1342	0.09	214.0	773	-1.66
OJD03458-369	941	0.01	216.0	713	-1.47
OJD03458-496	1481	0.02	164.6	801	-3.85
OJD03458-505	1490	0.03	214.3	787	-2.25
OJD03458-514	714	0.02	263.0	508	0.27
OJD03458-516	1816	0.05	45.0	763	-4.00

ODFW Site ID	Elevation	Slope	Conductivity	Distance to	Mean winter
		Stope	Conductivity	ocean	temperature
OJD03458-517	1857	0.06	37.0	767	-3.90
OJD03458-519	1163	0.03	371.0	762	-2.10
OJD03458-522	1133	0.05	148.0	780	-2.59
OJD03458-524	1399	0.03	373.9	740	-2.29
OJD03458-531	1519	0.01	52.7	771	-3.24
OJD03458-533	1473	0.03	159.2	796	-4.16
OJD03458-535	1498	0.05	89.9	762	-3.22
OJD03458-536	1250	0.03	127.3	794	-3.65
OJD03458-548	1345	0.12	273.0	784	-3.38
OJD03458-549	1257	0.02	68.3	778	-3.50
OJD03458-552	1319	0.01		714	-1.78
OJD03458-557	262	0.00		401	0.09
OJD03458-558	1237	0.05	84.9	754	-3.10
OJD03458-561	1335	0.03	96.9	710	-1.57
OJD03458-564	1282	0.03	98.4	743	-1.86
OJD03458-565	1345	0.01	156.6	788	-3.99
OJD03458-567	1290	0.01	97.7	755	-3.42
OJD03458-569	1332	0.01	143.3	781	-2.63
OJD03458-570	1692	0.03	71.2	805	-4.27
OJD03458-571	597	0.02	304.0	573	0.06
OJD03458-573	1334	0.03	64.8	782	-4.09
OJD03458-575	1303	0.03	174.9	793	-3.15
OJD03458-584	1499	0.02	92.2	767	-3.90
OJD03458-585	1521	0.05	124.3	765	-3.08
OJD03458-586	1649	0.04	109.7	770	-3.90
OJD03458-587	767	0.03	163.0	700	-0.99
OJD03458-595	1552	0.04	90.2	786	-4.01
OJD03458-596	1145	0.04	167.5	722	-1.69
OJD03458-600	1440	0.04	138.0	800	-3.69
OJD03458-604	1425	0.03	78.6	722	-2.26
OJD03458-605	1463	0.02	87.9	763	-3.68

	Mean annual runoff	Site elevation	Slope	Catchment area	Mean annual precipitation	Conductivity	River km to ocean
Site elevation							
Slope ^a	-0.69	0.26					
Catchment area	0.86	-0.57	-0.70				
Mean annual precipitation ^b		0.78		-0.27			
Conductivity ^c		-0.59			-0.80		
River km to ocean		0.62		-0.36	0.61	-0.30	
Winter temperature ^d		-0.77		0.29	-0.82	0.54	-0.85

Table C-2 Spearman's p correlation matrix for environmental variables for sample sites in the John Day River catchment basin possibly implicated in anadromy. Only significant correlations are shown. Bold indicates significance at $\alpha = 0.01$; others are significant at $\alpha = 0.05$.

^a Slope for 1:100,000-scale NHD+ reach
^b Area-weighted mean PRISM annual precipitation for site catchment
^c Water conductivity measured at site
^d Area-weighted mean PRISM December, January, February mean temperature for site catchment